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APPLICABLE STATUTES 

It shall be unlawful for any person . . . [t]o use or employ, in connection with the 
purchase or sale of any security registered on a national securities exchange or 
any security not so registered, . . . any manipulative or deceptive device or 
contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the [Securities and 
Exchange] Commission may prescribe . . . . 

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)  

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any 
facility of any national securities exchange, 

(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, 
(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a 
material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the 
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, 
or 
(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates 
or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person,  

in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b–5. 
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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. Are American investors’ domestic purchases of unsponsored ADRs in a 

foreign corporation sufficient for the extraterritorial application of Section 

10(b) when the foreign corporation’s CEO, CFO, and majority 

shareholders are American citizens, and the corporation approved the 

ADRs’ creation, promoted itself to the U.S. market, and has not been 

investigated by any foreign authority?  

2. Did General Counsel, even if not a "maker" under 10b-5(b), nonetheless 

violate subsections (a) and (c) of the Rule by intentionally disseminating 

false information to investors and the public that assured company's 

compliance, while possessing full knowledge that noncompliance was 

more than likely, for the purpose of inducing purchases of securities? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  Team No. P05 
 

 7 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

New York native Gianni Marconi (“Marconi”) is an American entrepreneur 

known for creating “cutting-edge” startups to take on market leaders in various 

industries. (R. at 1). In 2007, with his reputation already well-established in 

the United States, Marconi relocated indefinitely to Italy and discovered his 

next rival: the wine-and-spirits behemoth Lampari Group (“Lampari”). (R. at 1). 

Marconi contacted Benny Factor (“Factor”), a financial executive for a major 

American corporation, who helped Marconi make connections in Italy as he 

traveled the country conducting research on the wine-and-spirits industry. (R. 

at 2). In 2009, after using their personal wealth to fund initial expenditures, 

Marconi and Factor founded Alcollezione, and Factor relocated to Italy to assist 

with the business. (R. at 2).  

After an extensive search for a qualified attorney, Marconi and Factor 

hired Ava Cato (“Cato”) as Alcollezione’s General Counsel (R. at 2). Although 

Cato had only recently graduated from law school, she did so at the top of her 

class. (R. at 2). Cato established Alcollezione as an Italian corporation with its 

headquarters in Milan, and, to “ensure compliance,” she quickly educated 

herself with regard to quality control regulations for beverages. (R. at 2).  

Although Alcollezione was quickly successful, Marconi and Factor knew 

that “even more capital would soon be needed to scale operations and roll out 

international sales to topple Lampari” and that Alcollezione would have to go 

public. (R. at 2). Before Alcollezione’s initial public offering (“IPO”) in 2011, 

Marconi and Factor became the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief 
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Financial Officer (“CFO”), respectively, and an “Investor Relations” section was 

posted on the Alcollezione website containing financial statements, corporate 

disclosures, and other investor materials in both Italian and English. (R. at 3). 

20,000 shares of Alcollezione common stock were listed on the Italian Stock 

Exchange, but Marconi and Factor remained the majority shareholders. (R. at 

3). As a result, Alcollezione expanded its market share in Europe and the 

United States, where its drinks were especially popular among young adults. 

(R. at 3).  

In 2016, Marconi, Factor, and Cato traveled to New York. (R. at 3). 

Marconi and Factor intended to visit friends and family, and Cato was 

interested in sightseeing. (R. at 3). The trip was not all pleasure, however, as 

the three discussed business on the flight and met with Doris Schutt 

(“Schutt”), an investment banker at Hansen Bank and Trust in New York (the 

“Bank”). (R. at 3). Schutt proposed that Alcollezione sponsor American 

Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”)1 in order to “access the American capital 

markets.” (R. at 3). Marconi, however, turned down the offer, claiming it “would 

require too much time in the [United States] and that he no longer had the 

temperament for American business.” (R. at 3). In an interview later that year 

for a Slow Company article on ex-patriate businessmen, Marconi clarified his 

 
1 ADRs are securities sold in the U.S. that “represent shares in a foreign corporation.” 

Vincent M. Chiappini, How American are American Depositary Receipts? ADRs, Rule 10b-5 
Suits, and Morrison v. National Australia Bank, 52 B.C. L. Rev. 1795, 1816-17 (2011). 
Depositary banks in the U.S. “purchase foreign securities in foreign markets and issue ADRs in 
America.” Id. Although the bank “technically” owns the share, “the investor still retains voting 
rights to the foreign share by directing the depositary bank to vote in a certain way.” Id. at 
1817. With sponsored ADRs, the foreign corporation “actively participate[s] in the issuance of 
the ADR and enter[s] into an agreement with the depositary bank.” Id. 
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feelings toward his native country and stated that, although he did not intend 

to return to the United States, he would not relinquish his citizenship because 

“you never know what the future holds.” (R. at 3–4).  

Shortly thereafter, Schutt called Marconi when he was back in Italy and 

explained that hedge fund managers, having seen the Slow Company article, 

were interested in buying unsponsored Alcollezione ADRs2 through the Bank 

and that she wanted “to check with the company before doing so, given that 

Factor was a dear friend.” (R. at 4). Although he noted that Factor normally 

dealt with such financial decisions, Marconi indicated his approval. (R. at 4). 

The Bank then registered the unsponsored ADRs, and Petitioners, hedge funds 

in New York and Connecticut (the “Funds”), purchased them over the phone. 

(R. at 4).  

Ahead of the 2017 Annual Shareholder Meeting (the “Annual Meeting”), 

Marconi was still concerned about Alcollezione’s ability to compete with 

Lampari.  

Marconi proposed to Factor and Cato that Alcollezione develop a spiked 

mineral water, which could be made by adding new ingredients into its 

Prosecco. (R. at 4–5). Both were “instantly sold” despite not knowing the legal 

requirements of such a product. (R. at 5). While Cato began researching alcohol 

regulations, Marconi sought to ease investors’ minds amidst a tightening 

 
2  “For an unsponsored ADR, a depositary bank sells ADRs, which represent actual 

shares in the foreign corporation, without establishing a formal relationship between itself and 
the foreign corporation.” Chiappini, supra, at 1817 (emphasis added).  
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regulatory landscape, which was affecting Alcollezione’s stock. (R. at 5). 

Specifically, Marconi wanted to assure investors that Alcollezione’s new 

product, Frizzantissimo, would help it remain competitive with Lampari and 

that it would swiftly clear any regulatory hurdles. (R. at 5). Cato, however, saw 

red flags and expressed to Marconi that regulatory compliance “seemed 

unlikely in the short-term.” (R. at 5). Undeterred, Marconi replied that it would 

be “better to ask for forgiveness than permission” and that “this [was] 

happening with or without [Cato].” (R. 5).  

Despite her skepticism regarding the new product’s regulatory 

compliance, Cato drafted assurances that the product would be cleared to hit 

the market by the second quarter of 2018. (R. at 5–6). These assurances were 

included in Marconi’s slide deck at the Annual Meeting and posted to the 

Investor Relations section of Alcollezione’s website. (R. at 6). Investors were 

impressed, and, as a result, Alcollezione stock and the Funds’ ADRs climbed 

over 8% in after-hours trading and another 14% in the coming months, with 

the Funds’ “being the main drivers of the ADR price.” (R. at 6).  

In March 2018, however, Frizzantissimo’s production was suspended 

when it was revealed to be in violation of quality control regulations. (R. at 6). 

Afterward, the ADR price dropped by almost 27%. (R. at 6).  

To this date, no Italian or European authority has investigated 

Alcollezione’s conduct. (R. at 6).  
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The Supreme Court of the United States reviews de novo the Court of 

Appeals’ denial of a motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

12(b)(6), accepting all allegations in the complaint as true and construing them 

in the light most favorable to Petitioner. Wormser v. Mulligan, 104 F.4th 267, 

271 (14th Cir. 2018); see also Crystallex Int’l Corp. v. Petroleos De Venezuela, 

S.A., 879 F.3d 79, 83 n.6 (3d Cir. 2018). This Court must determine whether 

the facts alleged support a claim that is plausible on its face and allow the 

Court to “draw the reasonable inference that the defendant[s] [are] liable for the 

misconduct alleged.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citing Bell Atl. 

Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 556 (2007)).  
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ARGUMENT 

I. SECTION 10(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT APPLIES 
EXTRATERRITORIALLY TO THE FUNDS’ PURCHASES OF 
ALCOLLEZIONE ADRS.  

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act applies extraterritorially to the Fund’ 

purchases of Alcollezione ADRs. 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). Section 10(b) may be 

applied extraterritorially to transactions involving the purchase or sale of 

“securities listed on a domestic exchange” as well as “the purchase or sale of 

any other security in the United States.” Morrison v. Nat’l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 

U.S. 247, 273 (2010). While some courts have additionally required that a 

domestic transaction not be “predominantly foreign,” Parkcentral Global Hub 

Ltd. v. Porsche Auto Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198, 216 (2d Cir. 2014), others have 

found that the domesticity of a transaction is sufficient for extraterritorial 

application of Section 10(b). Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 950 (9th 

Cir. 2018). Here, the Funds’ purchases of Alcollezione ADRs constitute 

domestic transactions because irrevocable liability was incurred in the United 

States between the Funds and an American depositary institution. (R. at 4). 

This determination is sufficient for extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) 

because Morrison explicitly abandoned the “conduct and effects” test in favor of 

a bright-line rule that provides uniformity and predictability, is consistent with 

the text of the statute, and does not jeopardize international comity. Morrison, 

561 U.S. at 258-59, 273. Even if a transaction’s domesticity is insufficient for 

the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b), however, the Funds’ purchases 

were not predominantly foreign because there is no threat of conflict with 
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foreign laws, Marconi and Factor are American citizens, Alcollezione was 

involved in the establishment of the unsponsored ADRs, and Alcollezione took 

affirmative steps to benefit from the U.S. market. (R. at 1–4, 7).  

A. The Funds’ purchases of Alcollezione ADRs were domestic 
transactions because irrevocable liability was incurred in 
the United States between the Funds and an American 
depositary institution. 

 
The Funds’ purchases of Alcollezione ADRs were domestic transactions. 

A transaction is domestic “if irrevocable liability is incurred or title passes 

within the United States.” Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 

677 F.3d 60, 67 (2d Cir. 2012). In determining the point of irrevocable liability 

in a transaction, courts look to the “formation of the contracts, the placement 

of purchase orders, the passing of title, or the exchange of money.” Absolute 

Activist, 677 F.3d at 70; see also Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 948.  

Toshiba indicates that irrevocable liability is incurred in the United 

States when American funds purchase a foreign corporation’s unsponsored 

ADRs from depositary institutions based in the U.S. Toshiba, 896 at 949. 

There, U.S.-based pension funds, one of which was located in California, 

purchased unsponsored Toshiba3 ADRs from four depositary institutions 

located in New York. Id. at 937, 949. The funds brought a class action against 

Toshiba claiming that it made “fraudulent financial statements” that, when 

revealed, cause their ADRs to depreciate. Id. at 938. The court held that the 

funds had not adequately pleaded a domestic transaction because they had not 

 
3 Toshiba is a Japanese corporation. Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 937.  
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stated where the parties incurred irrevocable liability. Id. at 949. The court, 

however, opined that “an amended complaint could almost certainly allege 

sufficient facts to establish” a domestic transaction given that the offices and 

activities of the funds and depositary institutions were located in the U.S. Id. 

Here, irrevocable liability was incurred in the United States. The ADRs 

were established by the Bank, a New York depositary institution, and were 

purchased over the phone by hedge fund managers in New York and 

Connecticut. (R. at 4). This is a mirror image of Toshiba, where the pension 

funds located in the U.S. purchased unsponsored ADRs from depositary 

institutions based in New York. Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 949. As such, the 

“formation of the contracts, the placement of purchase orders, the passing of 

title, or the exchange of money” all took place in the United States. Absolute 

Activist, 677 F.3d at 70; (R. at 4).  

Therefore, the Funds’ purchases of Alcollezione ADRs were domestic 

transactions.  

B. The determination that the Funds’ purchases of 
Alcollezione ADRs is a domestic transaction is sufficient 
for the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) 
because Morrison explicitly abandoned the “conduct and 
effects” test in favor of a bright-line rule that provides 
uniformity and predictability, is consistent with the text 
of the statute, and does not jeopardize international 
comity. 

 
The determination that a transaction is domestic is sufficient for the 

extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). There is a presumption against 

extraterritorial application when a statute is silent on the issue. Morrison, 561 
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U.S. at 255. With regard to Section 10(b), however, that presumption may be 

overcome by showing that a transaction involved the purchase or sale of 

“securities listed on a domestic exchange” or “the purchase or sale of any other 

security in the United States.” Id. at 273. While the Second Circuit has 

additionally required that a domestic transaction not be “predominantly 

foreign,” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216, others have found that the domesticity 

of a transaction is sufficient for extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). 

Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 950. 

Prior to Morrison, the Second Circuit applied a “conduct and effects” test 

to questions regarding Section 10(b)’s extraterritorial application. Morrison, 561 

U.S. at 255–57. That test looked to whether the conduct at issue took place in 

the United States or affected American citizens. Id. at 257–58. It often, 

however, produced convoluted results. See IIT v. Cornfeld, 619 F.2d 909, 918 

(2d Cir. 1980) (explaining that a particular factor may be significant in some 

cases while not being dispositive in others). For example, two cases could 

involve sales of securities to American citizens and a defendant acting in the 

U.S., but where those citizens were residing abroad, Section 10(b) would only 

apply if fraudulent acts of material purpose occurred in the U.S. Bersch v. 

Drexel Firestone, Inc., 519 F.2d 974, 993 (2d Cir. 1975). 

In Morrison, this Court adopted a bright-line rule to cure the convolution 

caused by the “conduct and effects” test. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 258–59, 273. 

There, a foreign bank purchased a company based in the United States. Id. at 

251. Although the bank initially touted the acquired company’s success in 
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annual reports and public statements, it soon wrote down the value of the 

company’s assets, causing common stock and ADR prices to fall. Id. at 251–52. 

The bank’s common stock was only traded on foreign exchanges. Id. at 251. 

The plaintiffs were foreign citizens who had purchased the bank’s common 

stock and sued the bank for, inter alia, violating Section 10(b). Id. at 252–53. 

The Court held that Section 10(b) did not apply because the securities were not 

traded on a domestic exchange, and they did not constitute a domestic 

transaction. Id. at 273. The Court further reasoned that, whereas the conduct 

and effects test was “complex in formulation and unpredictable in application,” 

a transactional test would provide predictability without threatening 

international comity, noting that numerous foreign organizations had filed 

amicus briefs supporting the adoption of a clearer test. Id. at 256, 266-67, 269-

70. 

The Second Circuit, however, has added the requirement that a domestic 

transaction not be “predominantly foreign” for Section 10(b) to be applied 

extraterritorially. See, e.g., Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216. In Parkcentral, 

international hedge funds held security-based swap agreements4 relating to a 

foreign corporation’s stock that traded only on a foreign exchange. Id. at 201. 

Although the funds entered into their agreements domestically, the foreign 

corporation had not participated in the swap market. Id. at 207. The funds 

brought suit under Section 10(b) against the corporation for making allegedly 

 
4 In a security-based swap agreement, parties enter into a private contract in which 

exchange cash flows based on the price of a particular security. Parkcentral, 763 F.2d at 205. 
This is a “separate and distinct financial instrument from the security it references.” Id. at 206.  
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fraudulent statements about its stock. Id. Foreign regulatory authorities had 

already investigated the matter. Id. at 216. The court held that Section 10(b) 

did not apply. Id. 201–202. The court reasoned that, even if the swap 

agreements constituted domestic transactions, the claims were predominantly 

foreign because the statements were made in a foreign country relating to a 

foreign company’s stock traded only on a foreign exchange and had already 

been the subject of a foreign investigation. Id. at 216. The court further 

reasoned that finding the existence of a domestic transaction sufficient for 

Section 10(b)’s extraterritorial application would undermine the presumption 

against extraterritoriality emphasized in Morrison and invite conflict with 

foreign laws. Id. at 215. The court also emphasized that the “particular 

character of the unusual security at issue,” including the fact that the 

corporation not involved in the transaction, was a significant factor in its 

holding. Id. at 201-02, 215.  

Other courts have instead found that the existence of a domestic 

transaction is sufficient for the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). See, 

e.g., Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 950. In Toshiba, holders of unsponsored ADRs for a 

foreign company brought suit under Section 10(b) in relation to that company’s 

admitted accounting fraud. Id. at 937–38, 950. The court held that the 

plaintiffs had not adequately alleged the existence of a domestic transaction 

but that doing so would be sufficient to trigger the extraterritorial application of 

Section 10(b). Id. at 950–52. The court reasoned that Morrison had established 

a clear, pragmatic rule that replaced the “vague and unpredictable tests” that 
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preceded it. Id. at 950. The court also criticized Parkcentral’s reliance on the 

location of the fraudulent conduct as running counter to Morrison’s rule and 

reasoned that concerns regarding international comity do not justify ignoring 

“the Court’s clear instructions in Morrison.” Id.  

Morrison’s bright-line rule provides uniformity and predictability by 

focusing exclusively on the facts of the transaction itself. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 

261. In doing so, it can “produce consistent application of the United States 

securities laws, domestically and abroad.” See Matt Hortenstine, Resurrecting 

Morrison’s Second Prong Post-Parkcentral: A Proposal Regarding Security-Based 

Swap Agreements and the Transactional Test, 49 Int’l L. 455, 494 (2016). The 

Morrison Court noted that this would preserve “a stable background against 

which Congress can legislate with predictable effects.” Id. In fact, while Justice 

Breyer’s concurrence warned that there may be drawbacks to “all bright-line 

rules,” he noted that the majority’s test provided “clarity and simplicity.” Id. at 

285 (Breyer, J., concurring).  

Holding that a domestic transaction is sufficient for the extraterritorial 

application of Section 10(b) is also consistent with the plain meaning of the 

statute. 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). Section 10(b) explicitly covers “the purchase or sale 

of…any security not [registered on a national securities exchange].” Id. 

(emphasis added). Section 10(b) exclusively focuses on transactions, indicating 

that other factors such as “the foreign location of the allegedly deceptive 

conduct” are irrelevant. Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 950; see also Hortenstine, supra, 
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at 475. The plain text, therefore, only requires a domestic transaction. See 

Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 950.  

The Second Circuit’s inquiry into whether a domestic transaction is 

predominantly foreign, however, severely undermines Morrison’s bright-line 

rule and constitutes a refurbished conduct and effects test. See Hortenstine, 

supra, at 482. Both the conduct and effects test and the foreign-dominant test 

look to the location of the alleged actions. Compare Bersch, 519 F.2d at 993 

(holding that Section 10(b) applies when conduct of material importance occurs 

in the U.S.), with Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216 (holding that a domestic 

transaction was predominantly foreign where fraudulent statements were 

“made primarily in Germany with respect to stock in a German company”). In 

Morrison, however, this Court stated that the focus of Section 10(b) “is not 

upon the place where the deception originated, but upon purchases and sales 

of securities in the United States.” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266; see also Toshiba, 

896 F.3d at 949 (“[B]ecause we are to examine the location of the transaction, 

it does not matter that a foreign entity was not engaged in the transaction.”).  

As such, the Second Circuit’s interpretation of Section 10(b) threatens to 

revive the same inconsistencies that plagued the conduct and effects test. 

Courts applying the conduct and effects test to cases involving similar facts 

reached different results based on the citizenship of the parties and whether 

acts performed in the United States were “of material importance” or “merely 

preparatory.” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 258 (quoting Bersch, 519 F.2d at 992). 

Similarly, in Parkcentral, the court admitted that cases based on similar 
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circumstances would not necessarily reach the same conclusion. Parkcentral, 

763 F.3d at 217. Such an approach results in exactly the “judicial-speculation-

made-law” decried in Morrison where courts “guess [what Congress would have 

wanted] anew in each case.” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 261.  

Additionally, holding that a domestic transaction is sufficient for the 

extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) does not jeopardize international 

comity. In fact, numerous foreign governments and organizations filed amicus 

briefs in Morrison welcoming the establishment of a bright-line rule. Morrison, 

561 U.S. at 269–70. Limiting Section 10(b)’s application broad to transactions 

made in the United States effectively avoids entanglement in foreign securities 

regulation without the need for an additional requirement that the transaction 

not be predominantly foreign. See id. at 269–70.  

Therefore, the determination that The Funds’ purchases of Alcollezione 

ADRs are domestic transactions is sufficient for the extraterritorial application 

of Section 10(b).  

C. Alternatively, the Funds’ purchases of Alcollezione ADRs 
are not predominantly foreign because there is no threat 
of conflict with foreign laws, Marconi and Factor are 
American citizens, Alcollezione was involved in the 
establishment of the unsponsored ADRs, and Alcollezione 
took affirmative steps to benefit from the U.S. market. 

 
If the determination that a transaction is domestic is not sufficient for 

extraterritorial application of Section 10(b), The Funds’ purchases of 

Alcollezione ADRs were still not predominantly foreign. According to the Second 

Circuit, a domestic transaction may still “be so predominantly foreign as to 
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render the application of section 10(b) impermissibly extraterritorial.” Giunta, 

893 F.3d at 82. Courts consider whether foreign regulators have commenced 

their own investigation, Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216, whether the foreign 

corporation was involved in the transaction, id. at 217, the citizenship of the 

parties, Giunta v. Dingman, 893 F.3d 73, 82 (2d Cir. 2018), and whether the 

foreign corporation has taken affirmative steps to benefit from the U.S. market. 

In re: Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Marketing, Sales Practices, and Products 

Liability Litigation, No. 2672 CRB (JSC), 2017 WL 66281, at *6 (N.D. Cal. 

2017).5 

Parkcentral indicates that a domestic transaction may be predominantly 

foreign if the foreign corporation was not involved in the transaction. 

Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 201–02. There, hedge funds held security-based swap 

agreements relating to the stock of a foreign corporation. Id. at 201. The foreign 

corporation, however, was not a party to the contracts, and it had not 

participated in the market for swaps. Id. at 207. The court held that the 

transaction was predominantly foreign. Id. at 216. The court emphasized the 

unique character of security-based swaps, noting that the defendant was not a 

party to the agreements and did not participate in the swap market. Id. at 202, 

207. In narrowing its holding, however, the court stated that 10(b) may still 

 
5 Although the Ninth Circuit has not required that domestic transactions not be 

predominantly foreign for Section 10(b) to apply extraterritorially, see Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 950, 
the question of whether a foreign corporation has taken affirmative steps to access U.S. 
markets would appear relevant to the Second Circuit’s analysis, see Parkcentral, 763 F.2d at 
201-02 (holding that a domestic transaction was predominantly foreign where the corporation 
not involved in the transaction).  
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apply to domestic transactions where “defendants are alleged to have 

sufficiently subjected themselves to the statute.” Id. at 217.  

Parkcentral also indicates that a domestic transaction may be 

predominantly foreign if the alleged conduct has already been the subject of a 

foreign investigation. Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216. There, foreign regulators 

had already investigated the foreign corporation’s fraudulent statements 

regarding its stock. Id. at 216. The issue had also already been adjudicated in a 

foreign court. Id. The court held that the transaction was predominantly 

foreign. Id. In relevant part, the court reasoned that the fraudulent statements 

had already been the subject of an investigation by foreign regulators and 

adjudication in foreign courts. Id.  

Giunta indicates that a transaction may not be predominantly foreign 

despite one of the parties being a permanent resident of another country. 

Giunta, 893 F.3d at 82. There, an American citizen who was a permanent 

resident of a foreign country made misrepresentations about his foreign 

holding company to American investors. Id. at 76–78, 82. The court held that 

the transaction was not predominantly foreign. Id. at 82. The court reasoned 

that the parties were both American citizens notwithstanding the fact that the 

defendant was a permanent resident in another country. Id. at 82.  

Volkswagen indicates that a domestic transaction may not be 

predominantly foreign when a foreign corporation takes affirmative steps to 

make its ADRs available to investors in the United States. Volkswagen, 2017 

WL 66281, at *6. There, a foreign company was accused of making material 



  Team No. P05 
 

 23 

misrepresentations regarding its product’s compliance with regulations that 

caused the value of its sponsored ADRs to decline. Id. at 1. The company had 

also posted English versions of its disclosures on its website. Id. at 6. The court 

held that Section 10(b) applied extraterritorially to the company’s ADRs. Id. The 

court reasoned that the foreign corporation took affirmative steps to make its 

securities available to American investors by establishing the ADRs and 

providing information in English on its website. Id. at 6.  

Here, there is no threat of conflict with foreign laws. Unlike Parkcentral, 

where the foreign corporation had already been the subject of a foreign 

investigation, Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216, no foreign regulator has even 

commenced an investigation into Alcollezione. (R. at 7). Therefore, the primary 

concern underlying Morrison’s transactional test is not present. Morrison, 561 

U.S. at 269–70.6 Additionally, Marconi and Factor are American citizens and 

the majority shareholders of Alcollezione. (R. 1–3). To be sure, Marconi is a 

permanent resident of Italy. (R. at 4). In Giunta, however, permanent residency 

in a foreign country did not outweigh the defendant’s American citizenship. 

Giunta, 893 F.3d at 82. Although Marconi currently has no interest in 

returning to the United States, he has not yet chosen to relinquish his 

American citizenship, stating that “you never know what tomorrow holds.” (R. 

at 4).  

 
6 For this same reason, declining to apply Section 10(b) to unsponsored ADRs would 

leave investors in such securities unprotected by any regulatory framework. See Sarah Dotzel, 
Unsponsored ADRs Falling Through the Cracks: Adapting a Domestic Securities Regime to a 
Global Marketplace, 18 Vand. J. Ent. & Tech. L. 849, 851 (2016). This undermines the 
objectives of the Securities and Exchange Acts by eroding investor confidence. Id. at 871.   
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Furthermore, Alcollezione was involved in the establishment of the ADRs. 

(R. at 4). To be sure, unsponsored ADRs may be established without the 

involvement of a foreign company. Chiappini, supra, at 1831; see also 

American Depositary Receipts, Exchange Act Release No. 34-29226, 56 Fed. 

Reg. 24,420, 24,422 (May 23, 1991). Marconi, however, gave Schutt his 

blessing to establish the ADRs when they spoke over the phone. (R. at 4). This 

makes Alcollezione unlike the foreign corporation in Parkcentral, which played 

no part in the security-based swap agreements. Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 207. 

Therefore, although the ADRs were unsponsored, Alcollezione had a hand in 

their creation and “sufficiently subjected [itself] to [Section 10(b)].” Id. at 217; 

(R. at 4).  

Moreover, Alcollezione took affirmative steps to access the benefits of the 

U.S. market. Like the defendant in Volkswagen, which posted English 

translations of its disclosures on its website, Alcollezione made the investor 

materials on its website available in English. Volkswagen, 2017 WL 66281, at 

*6; (R. at 3). Therefore, its fraudulent misstatements were not exclusively 

directed at Italian shareholders. Alcollezione also sought to increase its profile 

in the U.S. by having Marconi do an interview with Slow Company, which 

sparked demand for the unsponsored ADRs. (R. at 3–4).  

Lastly, ADRs are different from security-based swap agreements. In 

Parkcentral, the Second Circuit stated that the particular nature of security-

based swaps played a significant role on its conclusion. Id. at 201–02. Unlike 

security-based swap agreements, which “do not constitute investments in the 
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company on whose securities they are based” and have a value that is “wholly 

unconstrained by the amount of reference security available and is not directly 

pegged to the value of the reference security,” ADRs represent a specific 

number of shares in a foreign company and can be characterized as stock. 

Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 939–40, 950.  

Therefore, the Funds’ purchases of Alcollezione ADRs were still not 

predominantly foreign. 

II. RESPONDENT COMMITTED A PRIMARY VIOLATION OF RULE 10b-5 
(a) AND (c).  

Respondent violated subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5 subjecting her 

to primary liability. An actor may be held primarily liable in actions brought by 

both private plaintiffs and the SEC under Section 10(b) where he or she, in 

connection with the purchase or sale of any security, “us[es] or employ[s] any 

manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such rules 

and regulations as the [SEC] may prescribe.” 15 U.S.C. § 78j; Blue Chip Stamps 

v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 730 (1975) (noting the Supreme Court has 

consistently recognized an implied private right of action for persons injured by 

violators of § 10(b)). Rule 10b-5 prohibits a person from "us[ing] a device, 

scheme, or artifice to defraud," or "engag[ing] in any act, practice, or course of 

business that operates as a fraud."  § 240.10b-5(a), (c). Subsection (b) prohibits 

a person from “mak[ing] a false or misleading statemen[t].” § 240.10b-5(a)-(c). 

17 C.F.R. § 240.106–5. Though § 10(b) is attributed to be "catchall provision," 

"what it catches must be fraud." Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate 
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Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 164 (1994) (stating that “adherence to the 

text of the statute” is the first step in determining whether conduct is within 

the scope of § 10(b)). 

 Here, Respondent committed a primary violation of Rule 10b-5 because 

her conduct uncovering the probable risk of noncompliance in her capacity as 

General Counsel and further public dissemination that compliance was met 

violated the statutory text of subsections (a) and (c). Second, Respondent 

employed her deceitful act for the purpose of inducing investors' beliefs that 

Alcollezione would generate revenue in the short-term and therefore buy 

Alcollezione securities. Finally, the Funds specifically relied upon Respondent's 

deceitful conduct when they drove stock price to 22% following public 

dissemination of Respondent's false assurances, and after public news of 

noncompliance, ADR price dropped 27%, and stock price 29%. 

A. Respondent employed a fraudulent device under subsection 
(a) while engaged in a practice that operated as a deceit 
under (c) because, in connection with Alcollezione ADR 
purchases, in her capacity as General Counsel, she 
uncovered the probable risk of product's short-term 
noncompliance and then disseminated false disclosures to 
investors assuring the product was approved and 
marketable in the short-term. 

 Respondent committed a textual violation of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c). When 

conduct is prohibited by §10(b), “[t[he statute resolves the case.” Central Bank 

of Denver, 511 U.S. at 177. Respondent employed a “device,” "scheme," and 

"artifice" to defraud investors and engaged in an “act,” “practice,” and “course 

of business” “that operated as a fraud or deceit” in connection with purchase or 

sale of securities as prohibited by the text of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).  
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 The District Court correctly applied Lorenzo to impose primary liability 

on Cato. In Lorenzo, the Court found dissemination of “false or misleading 

information with the intent to defraud”—even when disseminator did not 

“make” the misleading statements under Rule 10b-5(b)—violated the text of (a) 

as  “‘employ[ing]’ a ‘device,’ ‘scheme,’ and ‘artifice to defraud’” and (c) as 

“‘engage[ing] in a[n] act, practice, or course of business’ that ‘operate[d] ... as a 

fraud or deceit’ under (c).'” Lorenzo v. Sec. & Exch. Comm'n, 139 S. Ct. 1094, 

1100-02 (2019) (rejecting a mutual exclusive reading of subsections in Rule 

10b-5; “[I]t should go without saying that at least some conduct amounts to 

‘employ[ing]’ a ‘device, scheme, or artifice to defraud’ under subsection (a) as 

well as ‘engag[ing] in a[n] act ... which operates ... as a fraud’ under subsection 

(c)”). Defendant was sent the content of the email from his superior, which 

included false depictions of the company’s current assets and “invited 

[investors] to follow up with [defendant as vice president of investment banking 

company for] questions.” Id. at 1101–03 (“[U]sing false representations [in 

company valuations] to induce the purchase of securities would seem a 

paradigmatic example of securities fraud”) (quoting SEC v. Capital Gain 

Research Bureau, 375 U.S. 180 (1963)) (“[The] basic purpose behind [the 

Securities Acts of 1933 and 1934] laws: ‘to substitute a philosophy of full 

disclosure for the philosophy of caveat emptor and thus to achieve a high 

standard of business ethics in the securities industry'”) (emphasis added). 

 In Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, the Court imposed 

primary liability on a broker dealer’s misstatement of issuer’s purchasing price 
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as the “prevailing market price” while actively pursuing and reaping benefit 

from another market. Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. U.S., 406 U.S. 128, 153, 

(1972). Defendant devised a plan to induce shareholders to sell their interests 

“without disclosing to them material facts that reasonably could have been 

expected to influence their decisions to sell” (violating text of Rule 10b-5(a) and 

(c) as a ‘device, scheme, or artifice’ or ‘course of business,’ that ‘operated as a 

fraud’). Id. 

 The Second Circuit has imposed primary liability under subsections (a) 

and (c) on certain high-ranking professionals for another actor's misleading 

statements. In In re Scholastic Corp., v. Scholastic Corp., 252 F.3d 63, 64 (2d 

Cir. 2001), a vice president of “finance and investor relations” was “[p]rimarily 

responsible” for entity’s false communications with investors and industry 

analysts for having “draft[ed], produc[ed] review[ed] and/or disseminat[ed]” 

misleading statements. See also, Pacific Investment Management Co. v. Mayer 

Brown LLP, 603 F.3d 144, 154 (2d Cir. 2010) (noting Scholastic did not rely on 

Wright or Central Bank nor distinguished primary from secondary liability). In 

In re Bristol Myers Squibb Co., an executive failed to correct his company’s 

material misstatements after he falsified records that “provided the basis” of 

such statements, wherein he provided the “nature of the options granting 

processes and the extent of its corporate earnings.” In re Bristol Myers Squibb 

Co. Sec. Litig., 586 F. Supp. 2d at 152 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (defining conduct under 

Rule 10b-5(a) as “use” of a “deceptive act”). 
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 Lorenzo was decided upon the language of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) and 

equally applies to private actions involving fraudulent dissemination. Lorenzo, 

139 S. Ct. at 1100-2. Similar to the defendant in Lorenzo, who emailed false 

information to investors himself, Id., Respondent disseminated her own-written 

false statements to investors by inserting them into corporate disclosures for 

read at the Annual Meeting and on the company's Investor Relations website 

(like they were in preceding 2011 IPO) (R. at 5, 6). Like the Lorenzo defendant, 

who directed investors to ask him questions as vice president, Id. at 1101, 

Respondent directed investors to ask her questions about the company's 

compliance when she accepted her job as General Counsel, whereby she agreed 

her job was to ensure the company's compliance with regulations. (R. at 3).  

 Respondent employed a deceptive device to defraud investors under Rule 

10b-5(a). Like the broker-dealer in Affiliated Ute Citizens, who stated its 

issuer's purchasing price as prevailing and then actively pursued another 

market, Affiliated Ute Citizens, 406 U.S. at 128, Respondent herself uncovered 

the launch of the product exposed the company to a risk of short-term-

noncompliance, and then told investors that the product was approved and 

would be marketable at the end of the 2018 second quarter (which was still in 

the short-term from the meeting which was end of 2017). (R. 5). Parallel to 

Affiliated Ute Citizens, where broker-dealer reaped market gains from his active 

pursuit of another market, Id., Respondent when writing the false disclosures 

could gain from writing disclosures a good semiannual review which lied 

ahead. (R. at 5). 
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 Respondent's own deceptive conduct in the fraud supplied the basis for 

the content of false and misleading disclosures. Like the vice president in 

Scholastic, who drafted, produced, reviewed and disseminated false 

information, Respondent was the sole officer charged with this product’s 

compliance, she used her own legal aptitude and skill to educate herself to 

conclude the risk was probable, which she thereafter drafted into false 

disclosures for investors to see. Scholastic Corp., 252 F.3d at 63. (R. at 2, 4). 

Like the general counsel in Bristol Myers Squibb Co., who provided for his 

company the nature of the options granting processes and the extent of its 

corporate earnings, Respondent herself supplied chose words of which had 

connotations far beyond her and Marconi's private discussions. Bristol Myers 

Squibb Co., F. Supp. 2d at 152. Namely, Respondent implied through her 

statement that the product was ready for market at the end of second quarter 

2018 that the new product would undergo and complete operations by that 

time, a topic of which Respondent and Marconi had not even discussed. (R. at 

6). Therefore, Respondent's own conduct violated the text of Rule 10b-5(a) and 

(c). 

B. Respondent acted with the intent to deceive investors 
because she purposely withheld from corporate disclosures 
a short-term risk of noncompliance while falsely asserting 
compliance had been achieved, and that the product was 
marketable, to induce the belief that Alcollezione would 
generate revenue in the short-term. 

 Respondent intended to deceive investors when disseminating her false 

assurances. Rule 10b-5 “requires a mental state embracing intent to deceive, 

manipulate, or defraud.” Aaron v. Sec. & Exch. Comm’n, 446 U.S. 680, 686 
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(1980). “[T]he proof of scienter in fraud cases is often a matter of inference from 

circumstantial evidence.” Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 390 

(1982).  

 The Court in Lorenzo accepted the Commission’s finding of scienter with 

regard to company's overstated price quote in the email, considering defendant 

knew his client company's financial situation was “horrible from the beginning” 

and that its gas-conversion technology had not worked as planned. Lorenzo v. 

Sec. Exch. Comm’n, 872 F.3d 578, 583 (D.C. Cir. 2017). In addition to 

knowledge of incorrect financial values, defendant was also shown to have 

known he “stood to gain seven to nine percent of any funds he raised from the 

debenture offering.” Id. 

 The Ninth Circuit has imposed primary liability under subsections (a) 

and (c) to actors who have “substantially participated” in creating a statement 

but were not makers under (b). In In re Software Toolworks Inc. v. Painewebber, 

50 F.3d 615, 629 (9th Cir. 1994), accountants concealed knowledge that its 

client's quarterly income were false when it had access to all of client’s 

financial information, and deliberately chose to reveal client's poor quarterly 

performance to the SEC upon request. In New York City Employees’ v. Berry, a 

general counsel participated in “[s]ystematic perpetration and concealment” of 

false stock option grants, and the dissemination of false and misleading 

statements because she played “a role” in preparing false documents—which 

was “inferred” by virtue of her position as “high level corporate insider.” New 

York City Employees’ Ret. Sys. v. Berry, 616 F. Supp. 2d 987, 994–5 (N.D. Cal. 
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2009). In SEC v. Seaboard Corp., 677 F.2d 1301, 1301 (9th Cir. 1982), the 

Ninth Circuit imposed on external accountant primary liability for “direct 

participation” in misrepresentations whether he knew or was “reckless in not 

knowing” the facts therein materially misrepresented the issuer's condition.  

 In In re Flight Transp. Corp. Sec. Litig., 593 F. Supp. 612, 618 (D. Minn. 

1984), the court imposed primary liability under 10b-5(a) and (c) on an 

underwriter's attorney for knowing or recklessly disregarding facts of a 

fraudulent scheme by failing to exercise her duty of due diligence, preparing 

two misleading prospectuses for issuer that misrepresented it revenues, 

operations and financial condition. The court reasoned that the “purpose and 

effects” thereof, “were part and parcel of a common scheme and conspiracy to 

defraud,” and “[c]ause [investor class to] purchase securities of [entity]” at 

“grossly excessive consideration.” Id.  

 Respondent acted with a purpose to deceive investors. Respondent's 

mental state exceeds the accountants in Seaboard, 677 F.2d at 1301, who 

either knew or recklessly did not know the prospectus contained a material 

representation, because Respondent discovered that the risk was probable, 

that Marconi was not going to disclose it regardless of her action, and still 

chose to disseminate the false statements. (R. at 5–6). Like the accountant in In 

re Software Toolworks Inc., 50 F.3d at 629, Respondent deliberately chose to lie 

and state the product as marketable in the second quarter, despite her 

knowledge that the compliance of the product was unlikely in the short-term. 

(R. at 5). 
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 Respondent acted with a purpose to achieve a fraudulent result. Like 

counsel in Berry, who perpetrated the stock option grants from investors,  

Respondent depicted the product as already "approved" to instill trust in 

Alcollezione management and induce investors to believe that despite public 

knowledge of tightening regulations on liquor and beverage market, the product 

had been separately approved by management. (R. at 6). Berry, 616 F. Supp. 

2d at 994. (R. at 4, 7). Like counsel in Berry, Id., who concealed false stock 

option grants, Respondent's legal assurances constituted the fraudulent basis 

of the new product announcement, as she herself expressed skepticism to 

Marconi's plan not to disclose and she thus knew if investors heard the truth, 

they would be doubtful of the company's future, considering the company had 

existing products that had matured. (R. at 6). Therefore, Respondent acted with 

the intent to defraud. 

C. Investors relied directly upon Respondent's deceitful 
conduct because following public dissemination of 
respondent's false assurances, the Funds' purchases of 
ADRs were the main factor in driving stock price to 22%, 
and after public news of noncompliance, ADR price dropped 
27%, and stock price 29%. 

 Investors relied on Respondent's deceptive conduct. Under Stoneridge, a 

plaintiff must show reliance upon a defendant's deceptive acts for a claim 

under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) must be shown to have been relied on by investors. 

Stoneridge Inv. Partners, 552 U.S. at 159.  

 In Stoneridge, the Court found third-party defendants' participation in 

allegedly fraudulent transactions with plaintiff-corporation—absent a duty to 

disclose and public knowledge of the conduct—did not satisfy primary liability 
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under Rule 10b-5 because plaintiffs did not rely on entities’ conduct, since they 

did not know it occurred. Id. There, the defendants falsified expenses to 

conceal transactions from corporation’s external auditor, who in turn 

conducted the financial statements for the corporation, who then issued the 

transactions, without attributing its contents to either defendants or auditor. 

Id. at 154. The Court found that “nothing” the two third-party companies did 

made it “necessary or inevitable” for the corporation “to record the transactions 

as it did.” Id. at 149. 

 The Ninth Circuit has applied a flexible definition of reliance. In Berry, 

the court was satisfied with reliance on the basis that the scheme was 

eventually revealed to the public, defendant's level of responsibility over the 

option granting process, and the proximity of the backdating to the investing 

public. Berry, 616 F. Supp. 2d at 998. The court held the $900,000,000 

plaintiffs alleged to have lost as a result likely made it “necessary or inevitable 

for [the company] to record the transactions as it did.” Id. (quoting Stoneridge, 

128 S.Ct. at 770); see also In re ZZZZ Best Sec. Litig., 864 F. Supp. 960, 970 

(C.D. Cal. 1994) (reliance not the center of analysis under subsections (a) and 

(c) of Rule 10b-5; “The securities market still relied on those public statements 

and anyone intricately involved in their creation and the resulting deception”—

despite the possibility that “the investing public may not be able to reasonably 

attribute the additional misstatements and omissions to [defendant]”). See also, 

In re Alstom SA, 406 F.Supp.2d 433, 467 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (subsidiary conveyed 

data to parent and it was “[p]lausible and reasonable to infer [i]nvestors. . . 
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implicitly relied on” subsidiary, as it was “original and knowing source,” “at 

least constructively.”) Id. at 467.  

 Under Stoneridge, the Funds directly relied on respondent's false 

assurances. Stoneridge Inv. Partners, 552 U.S. at 159. First, Respondent's false 

assertion to investors that Alcollezione's new product was in fact "approved" 

was necessary for the Funds to purchase ADRs in the after-hours offering 

because Alcollezione's existing products were maturing, and Respondent and 

Factor themselves approved acquiring the new product that was in-demand 

and would offset the risk of decline present from matured areas. (R. at 4-5). 

Moreover, unlike the third party defendants in Stoneridge who were not sought 

out by plaintiff-company to write the false financial data to accountants, Id., 

Marconi sought Respondent's legal conclusion concerning the legality of 

Alcollezione's new product because he did not possess the skills to accurately 

research, analyze, and apply the law himself. (R. at 5). Like the subsidiaries 

found to be the original and knowing source of financial records in In re Alstom 

SA, Respondent was the only officer qualified to conclude the product “more 

than likely” violated regulatory standards. (R. at 5). Thus, Marconi's 

announcement of the product without knowing the probable risk of 

noncompliance would have just been negligent. (R. at 5). 

 Investors relied on Respondent as General Counsel to disclose the full 

truth. The defendants in Stoneridge Inv. Partners, 552 U.S. at 159 lacked 

public attribution to its data. To the contrary, Alcollezione's financial 

statements, slide-deck, and video-presentation, all including Cato's false 
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disclosures, were displayed on the “investor-relations” page accessible to the 

entire public, and Schutt's email preceding the Annual Meeting guided the 

Funds to look at the website for further information. (R. at 6). Unlike 

Stoneridge, which involved two third party-defendants communicating to a 

third-party accounting firm, the Funds here are suing the General Counsel of 

the firm that they own equity interests in, who intentionally omitted what she 

knew to be a serious risk when "disclosing" information directly to 

shareholders. (R. at 10). Like defendant in Berry, 616 F. Supp. 2d at 998, who 

took responsibility over the option granting process, Respondent's job as 

general counsel was to determine compliance, which were the false words the 

Funds relied on to invest. (R. at 5). Comparable to the subsequent loss in 

Berry, Id., the Funds were the main contributors in driving the ADR stock price 

up 22% following public dissemination of compliance, and immediately 

following public dissemination Alcollezione's noncompliance on March 14, 

2018, the stock price dropped 29% and ADR price dropped 27%. (R. at 7). 

 Therefore, the Funds relied directly on Respondent's intentional deceitful 

conduct in congruence with Stoneridge. Id.  

 


